2001

# Kenneth W. Gibb v. Earl N. Dorius : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Is the revocation of respondent's driver's license, pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 41-6-44.10 (1953), as amended, for failure to take the chemical test, a refusal, when respondent, relying on advice of counsel, refuses to submit to the test until his attorney is present, after having had two phone calls with said attorney; is the right to contact counsel a right under the *Hunter v. Dorius* case to have the attorney present prior to the taking of the chemical test or deciding to take the chemical test, or either submitting or refusing said test; further, are the above two issues moot in view of the court's ruling that Section 41-

6-44.10(f) was not complied with in the court's opinion because Lynn Davis, City-County Health Lab Technician, was not "an authorized lab technician" pursuant to the statute?

### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

On October 8, 1973, the appellant revoked respondent's driver's license to drive for one year, effective September 13, 1973. This was due to respondent's failure to submit to a sobriety test under Section 41-6-44.10, Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended. Pursuant to the act, respondent filed a petition for trial de novo in the Third District Court, in and for Salt Lake County, for a determination of whether respondent's license was subject to revocation. The case was heard before the Honorable D. Frank Wilkins on the 18th day of December, 1973. Judge Wilkins found after a hearing that respondent's motion to set aside the revocation order be granted and that the action be dismissed upon the merits and that the respondent have and recover his driving privilege. Said order was signed and entered on the 29th day of January, 1974. According to the conclusions of law entered by the court of date, Judge Wilkins held that the order entered on the 8th of October, 1973, was unlawful and in excess of appellant's authority and jurisdiction; further, that the petitioner had a right to rely upon the representations made by the arresting officer that he had a right to counsel, and that the arresting officer was in error, after informing petitioner of his right and refusing to allow him to obtain such counsel prior to requesting

that he either submit or refuse a chemical test for sobriety. Further, that the question of petitioner's refusal to submit to a chemical test was moot in light of the fact that the State failed to prove a duly authorized lab technician as required in Utah Code Ann. § 41-6-44.10(f) (1953), as amended, was provided.

### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks a reversal of the lower court's judgment findings of fact and conclusions of law granting a return of the respondent's driver's license and seeks an order in harmony with the appellant's order of revocation.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Trooper Wayne Albert Smith testified that respondent was observed in a Chevrolet Pickup Truck going northbound on Interstate I-15 Freeway and turning into the emergency lane and then going off onto the shoulder portion of the road in a zigzag pattern (R. 33). The trooper followed him from just north of 17th South until stopping the subject's car at approximately 12th South. He noticed the odor of alcohol (R. 33, 34) and he asked Mr. Gibb, the respondent, to step back to the highway patrol vehicle and as he did so he observed the respondent walking, which he indicated was in a staggering and unsteady manner. No field agility tests were given (R. 34). Trooper Smith placed him under arrest and read him the *Miranda* rights (R. 35) and respondent indicated that he would talk to the Trooper (R. 35). Trooper Smith

asked the respondent if he would submit to a chemical test and asked him if he had a preference as to which test he would take, to which the respondent indicated he had no preference, but that if it was okay, he would take the blood test. The Trooper then called the dispatcher to notify the technician for the purpose of drawing the blood to meet at the county jail (R. 35). The respondent was stopped at 4:01 a.m. on May 17, 1973. He was placed under arrest at 4:04 a.m. He was advised of his rights at 4:09 a.m. (R. 35).

Thereafter, the respondent and Trooper Smith and another highway patrolman, Trooper Tenney, proceeded to the Salt Lake County Jail. Trooper Smith in the car explained the implication of the Implied Consent Law and the chemical test to the respondent, but did not read the entire rights to him at the scene prior to leaving for the jail. He did tell him that he was required to take a test and that his license would be revoked if he refused and did not have a valid reason for the refusal. The respondent and Trooper Smith and Trooper Tenney arrived at the jail and there met Mr. Lynn Davis, the City-County Lab Technician who was there for the purpose of drawing the blood (R. 37). The respondent asked to speak to an attorney and so Trooper Smith provided him with a phone, the respondent made several phone calls and then did contact an attorney represented to be Mr. Reagan (R. 37). Mr. Gibb, after his conversation, requested that Trooper Smith talk to the attorney, which conversation took place (R. 37) at which time Trooper

Smith asked that his client subject himself to a chemical test, either breath or blood (R. 37). Trooper Smith testified that Mr. Reagan said that he would not refuse the test (that is his client) supplied but that he would not agree to Mr. Gibb taking a test without him (Mr. Reagan) being present at the jail (R. 38). Mr. Reagan, the attorney, was informed by Trooper Smith that he had no intention of interrogating Mr. Gibb at the jail further concerning the arrest for drunk driving or taking any of his rights away but that he did request that he get an answer as to whether Mr. Gibb could take the chemical test or not and that Trooper Smith was the only other car on the road that night and it was important for him to get back to the highway (R. 38). These activities took place between 4:45 a.m., the approximate time they arrived at the jail and 5:30 a.m., the time that Trooper Smith turned the respondent, Mr. Gibb, over to the jailer for booking.

Trooper Smith testified that the respondent had a lengthy conversation with his attorney, approximately five or ten minutes, and could have been as much as fifteen (R. 38-39). Mr. Gibb's attorney advised Trooper Smith that he would not advise Mr. Gibb over the phone and that he was going to come to the jail to speak to Mr. Gibb in private, and Mr. Gibb's attorney informed Mr. Gibb that he was coming to the jail to advise him whether or not to submit to the chemical test. Trooper Smith advised both the attorney for Mr. Gibb and Mr. Gibb that there was no need for the attorney to come to

the county jail as far as the implied consent was concerned (R. 41) whereupon respondent, Mr. Gibb, said that subsequent to him being informed of his rights under Section 41-6-44.10 that he would not submit to a test unless his attorney was present. However, the record reveals that he admitted to Mr. Davis, the technician, affirmatively that he would refuse until his attorney was present (R. 26). Attorney Reagan, attorney for respondent, stated by way of a stipulation that he arrived at the jail at 5:25 a.m. and that on the phone prior to coming to the jail, he notified Trooper Smith that in his opinion what constituted right to counsel was not a phone call but was the opportunity to personally interview and talk to his client, to which Trooper Smith reiterated to attorney Reagan that his presence was not necessary as far as the law and the refusal was concerned (R. 48).

The respondent, in talking to the lab technician said that at the time when he was asked if he would submit to the test that he would refuse until his attorney was present because if "we took his blood, he would lose his license, *but if he refused and we didn't wait for his attorney, he could get by the refusal hearing*" (R. 26). (Emphasis supplied.)

On cross-examination after having testified as to his qualifications, Mr. Lynn Davis, a chemist with the City-County Health Department for the previous nine and one-half years, a medical technologist with the United States Navy during World War II, and holding a bachelor of arts degree in Bacteriology and Chemistry, with ap-

proximately twenty-five years' experience in clinical laboratory work, that he did not have on his person a card or writing of any kind that indicated that he was authorized to draw blood by the State of Utah (R. 30). However, he did indicate he was authorized by the State Division of Health and was on the approved list with the State Department of Health and that the State Department of Health monitored him as to his procedure in running blood alcohol tests (R. 20). He indicated that the authorization was in the form of a letter as to his proficiency rating on the program of the State Division of Health (R. 29). However, Mr. Davis answered Mr. Gibb's attorney that he did not have a card from the State of Utah, that he did have a card from the Director of the City-County Health Department reflecting his employment and authorization status.

The lower court's decision should be reversed for the following reasons:

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

THE COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE QUESTION OF PETITIONER'S REFUSAL TO SUBMIT TO A CHEMICAL TEST WAS MOOT BASED ON THE RULING THAT THE CITY AND COUNTY LAB TECHNICIAN WAS NOT A "DULY AUTHORIZED LABORATORY TECHNICIAN" AS

REQUIRED UNDER UTAH CODE ANN. §  
41-6-44.10(f).

There is no specific case law on this subject as to what constitutes a duly authorized laboratory technician under the law in the State of Utah. However, the question as to what is a "duly authorized" agent or person has been ruled on in other jurisdictions. A case in point being an Indiana case of March, 1942, *Wise v. Curdes, et al.*, 40 N. E. 2d 122, held on a question of what constitutes duly authorized as used in the bankruptcy act that where an attorney had been directed to act for a client and is acting within the scope of the agency it is binding notwithstanding the absence of writing to that effect or a formal power of attorney. A New York case, *People v. Johanerson*, 49 N. Y. S. 2d 190, 199 (1944), on question of a chiropractor and the practice of medicine held that duly authorized by law meant authority under the laws of the State and would require a medical decree since the statute required one to practice. A more recent case in Texas concerning a physician on a dispute as to whether a physician licensed in one county could certify pursuant to the election code for another county, the court held in *Olivarez v. Aquilar*, Tex. Civ. App., 431 S. W. 2d 932 (1968), that a physician whose medical certificate was registered in Zapata County and who resided in the county was a "duly licenced physician" within the meaning of the election code and authorized to execute medical certificates in support of application of voters in Star County for absentee ballot for primary election

involving nomination for office and a constable in Star County.

Two insurance cases likewise sustain the proposition that a duly authorized agent refers not only to the form but includes form and substance. *Rosenthal v. Monarch Life Insurance Company*, a 1935 case from the Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts, 195 N. E. 339, involved a suit brought to secure a decree to the effect that a policy of accident and health indemnity insurance issued to the plaintiff was reinstated after a lapse as in full force and effect. The problem was that the insured's check for the overdue payment of premium was received by the agent, deposited to the credit of the insurer, in its bank, and was duly collected and the proceeds held by the insurer for almost two weeks. The court held that the agent accepted the check in payment of the overdue premium and that the duly authorized agent as used in the statute providing for reinstatement referred to the representative of the insurer with power to collect regular premiums and in this case the last previous one paid by the insured and upheld the reinstatement and the effect of the insurance as being in force. A second Massachusetts case in the Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts, March 1, 1917, is *Lamontagne v. Standard Life and Accident Insurance Company*, 115 N. E. 244. There the question was whether there was evidence which would warrant a finding that the defendant insurance company was not liable unless plaintiff had complied with their "immediate written notice" requirement that a notice of the claim be given to the company at its home office or "its duly

authorized agent.” There was no notice to the home office. However, the question was whether notice to an agent empowered to issue a policy, received premiums to be forwarded to the home office less the agent’s commission, and who in fact had received from the insurance company a general agent’s commission on general liability insurance business, was such a person as would constitute a duly authorized agent for receiving notice on an accident. The jury found that the sales agent was clothed with sufficient powers that the plaintiff who gave the agent notice was justified in assuming that it would be a sufficient compliance with that condition within the policy. The Court sustained the lower court on appeal that this sales agent was “duly authorized” to accept notice of claim within the meaning of the policy.

A recent California case, *Kuenstler v. Occidental Life Insurance Company*, 292 F. Supp. 532 (1968), in the United States District Court for the Central District of California, again involving an insurance company adds additional illumination to the question of who may be a duly authorized agent.

In this case the dispute was over \$72.00 in medical expenses from a private insurance company who was by contract administering benefit provisions for the federal government. On a dispute of the claim with the insurance carrier and litigation that followed, an issue arose as to whether or not this private insurance company was “duly authorized as an agent of the United States,” it being important as effecting the question of whether or not the

district court could take jurisdiction to decide the merits of a claim against the company. The court, though there was no written authorization other than the general business relationship of contracting insurance benefits, held that the secretary of health, education and welfare was authorized to enter into contracts with private insurance carriers, and in this case did enter in with such a contract with the defendant insurance company, and finally that the defendant insurance company while acting in this capacity, was a duly authorized agent of the United States of America.

From the foregoing, it is apparent that the courts uniformly in disputes involving insurance company claims, benefits and questions of whether the companies are rightly approving claims have interpreted the provision liberally recognizing, (1) the authority of a private insurance carrier as it functions under the Social Security Act, (2) recognizing the rights of a claimant where notice was given to an agent, though not to the home office on a claim, (3) recognizing the authority and the binding nature thereof when a policy holder paid premiums on a health policy after a lapse where the money was in fact received by the agent, deposited and two weeks passed. Based on the foregoing, in the case at hand, it would appear that the court should sustain a liberal interpretation of what constitutes duly authorized and certainly recognize the authority of one acting within the scope of his employment in a municipality, or in a properly licensed hospital, or other recognized testing or treatment facility

which had a "laboratory technician" whom they regarded as not only authorized but qualified.

The question here is whether the statutes as set forth by the legislature of the State of Utah and the grouping of a physician, registered nurse, practical nurse, or duly authorized laboratory technician contemplates any kind of state authorization for the laboratory technician. There is no legislative requirement that laboratory technicians be licensed within the State of Utah, as is the requirement for practical nurses, registered nurses, or physicians. In fact, it is the recognized established practice that laboratory technicians function without State licenses and so recognized by the legislature in hospitals, in clinics, and in this case in the City-County Health Department, having received their training and recognition satisfactory to those in the related professions and with whom they work. The better reading of the statute, under the rules of statutory construction, is to read the section as a whole, which section provides that the police officer can request the laboratory technician, a practical nurse, a registered nurse, or a physician, to draw the blood.

The statute was amended in 1967 to change police officer to peace officer and to include a practice nurse category. Since peace officer is a broad category and includes officers of various municipal, city, county and state police agencies, one must conclude that those who may act as peace officers are those from the various state, city and city-county and municipal categories. Likewise, it is reasonable to conclude that a laboratory technician

capable and properly authorized by the county government and the city government of Salt Lake City, respectively in absence of any state licensing requirement, was one "duly authorized" pursuant to the statute and capable of administering the test. It is analogous to conclude that as peace officers, representing various city and municipal governments act in their own capacity and authority on behalf of the peace-keeping mission and on behalf of their work in the broad police power of the state, so also Mr. Davis in his city-county employee status could act in concert with Trooper Smith pursuant to the statute in this case. It must be the conclusion that Mr. Davis, an experienced laboratory technician for Salt Lake City and Salt Lake County is a "duly authorized laboratory" technician to so act under the statute, though he did not have on his person or present in court a writing, a certificate, or a diploma indicating any specific authorization from the State of Utah, since none is required by the legislature of the State of Utah, as is the case in the other three of the four categories mentioned, vis. practical nurses, registered nurses, and physicians.

It was error on the part of the court to rule that this matter should be granted as to the petition of the respondent solely on the technical question of the presence of a "duly authorized laboratory technician" in the absence of state requirements therefore and not to consider the matter on its merits. The choice of tests was properly with the trooper and had the question been raised by either Mr. Reagan or respondent at the time, concerning their dispute as to the authority of Mr. Davis, it could

have simply been a matter of giving to Mr. Gibb a breathalyzer test at that moment. Trooper Smith was authorized and capable of giving the test. That alternative did not in fact exist because Mr. Reagan advised and Mr. Gibb advised that Mr. Gibb would take no tests until his attorney was present. A close case on point is a California case, *Westmorland v. Chapman*, 74 Cal. Rptr. 363, 268 C. A. 2d 1 (1969), which upheld a refusal, under California law, which is similar to Utah's law, except the descriptive terms vary, reads "duly licensed clinical laboratory technologist or clinical laboratory bioanalyst." A party was challenging the refusal revocation based on the failure of the arresting officer to advise him that a licensed technician is *authorized* (emphasis ours) to take the blood specimen, the court held that the implied consent law does not impose the duty on the arresting officer to advise a driver that the licensed technician is authorized to take the blood specimen.

The lower court committed error further in light of the testimony, which was unrebutted, that it was intended by Mr. Gibb that if the officer did not wait until the attorney was present that somehow they could get by the hearing or the law requiring him to take such a test.

## POINT II.

THE COURT ERRED IN HOLDING THAT  
RIGHT TO COUNSEL MEANT THAT RE-  
SPONDENT HAD THE RIGHT TO HAVE  
HIS ATTORNEY PHYSICALLY PRESENT

IN THE COUNTY JAIL PRIOR TO HIS TAKING THE BLOOD TEST AFTER HE HAD HAD TWO OPPORTUNITIES TO CONVERSE WITH HIS COUNSEL ON THE TELEPHONE ABOUT MATTERS SURROUNDING THE IMPLIED CONSENT LAW AND HIS SUBMITTING OR REFUSING SAID CHEMICAL TEST.

There is serious doubt in many jurisdictions that such a right to counsel exists in the civil aspects of the Implied Consent Law where an arrested party must decide whether or not to submit to a type of sobriety test.

*Mills v. Bridges*, 471 P. 2d 66, 93 Idaho 679; I. S. § 49-352; *Garcia v. Department of Motor Vehicles*, 456 P. 2d 85; *Rust v. Division of Motor Vehicles, et al.*, 1971, 267 C. A. 2d 545, 73 Cal. Rptr. 366; *Stratikos v. Department of Motor Vehicles*, (1968) 477 P. 2d 237; *People v. Brown*, 485 P. 2d 500; *Johnson v. Department of Motor Vehicles*, 485 P. 2d 1258, (Oregon 1971); *Campbell v. Superior Court in and for Maricopa County*, 479 P. 2d 685, 106 Ariz. 542; *Goodman v. Orr*, 1971, 97 Ctl. Rptr. 226, 19 C. A. 3rd 845. Utah has not ruled squarely on this issue.

A recent Colorado case has held that Implied Consent statute is not unconstitutional on grounds that it violates right to travel upon state highway, *or that it constitutes violation of due process by compelling citizen to choose either his right to refuse to surrender evidence that would help to convict him or his right to retain li-*

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