2001

# Kenneth W. Gibb v. Earl N. Dorius : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

THE LOWER COURT'S DETERMINATION THAT MR. LYNN DAVIS WAS NOT A "DULY AUTHORIZED LABORATORY TECHNICIAN" THEREFORE RENDERING THE QUESTION OF RESPONDENT'S REFUSAL TO GRANT A BLOOD ALCOHOL SAMPLE MOOT, FINDS SUBSTANTIAL

## SUPPORT IN THE EVIDENCE AND THE LAW.

Under Section 41-6-44.10(a), U. C. A., as amended, the District Court in a trial de novo was vested with jurisdiction "to take testimony and examine into the facts of the case and to determine whether . . . [respondent] license is subject to revocation . . .".

The appellant had to demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that respondent had refused to take the sobriety test requested because this was the basis upon which appellant revoked the respondent's license. This determination admittedly is a question of fact within the providence of the trier of fact. Apparent in the opinion of the lower court, the appellant failed to meet the burden of proof required and the evidence indicated that respondent did consent to the taking of his blood test.

This court has long held it is the prerogative of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses in applying the facts; that the court reviews evidence in the light most favorable to the trial judge and that the trial judge's finding will not be disturbed if there is reasonable basis in the evidence to sustain them. E.g., *Bramel v. Utah State Road Commission*, 24 Utah 2d 50, 465 P. 2d 534, 535 (1970). *Seegmiller v. Western Men, Inc.*, 20 Utah 2d 352, 354, 427 P. 2d 892, 894 (1968). *Marks v. Continental Casualty Co.*, 19 Utah 2d 119, 123-24, 427 P. 2d 387, 390 (1967).

In the instant case there is reasonable basis in the evidence to sustain the trial court's findings.

It cannot be denied that respondent consented to submit to a blood test at the first request of Trooper Smith (R. 18), and never refused (R. 30). Subsequent to the respondent's consent to giving a blood sample for the purpose of determining the blood alcohol level, it was Trooper Smith's obligation to administer the test according to law. Trooper Smith requested that the respondent take a blood test and radioed the dispatcher at the Salt Lake City and County jail to have a technician meet them (R. 18).

Section 41-6-44.10(f) provides:

"Only a physician, registered nurse, practical nurse, or *duly authorized laboratory technician* acting at the request of a police officer can withdraw blood for the purpose of determining the alcoholic or drug content therein." (Emphasis added.)

The lower court found as a question of fact and law that Mr. Davis was not a duly authorized laboratory technician.

The appellant argues that the correct interpretation or reading of Section 41-6-44.10(f) would be "to read the section as a whole", and ignore the words "duly authorized" (A. 12).

To do this would be to determine that the words "duly authorized" have no substantive meaning and are

present in the statute strictly as a matter of form. This is contrary to the holding of this court, the doctrine of *eiusdem generis* and *expressio unius est exclusio alterius*. The appellant concedes that "duly" has substantive meaning and in fact cites two cases in his brief holding to that effect (A. 19).

In *General Talking Pictures Corp. v. Hyatt*, Justice Wolfe said:

"The word 'duly' has acquired a fixed legal meaning, and when used before any word implying action, it means that the act was done properly. It does not relate to form merely, but includes form and substance, implying the existence that every fact essential to perfect regularity of procedure in the observance of statutory requirements; and has been defined generally as meaning according to law, or some rule of law, or practice, \* \* \* by proper procedure \* \* \* properly, regularly, sufficiently." 114 Utah 362, 366, 199 P. 2d 147, 148 (1948).

Further, it must be assumed that each term of the statute was used advisably and should be interpreted and applied in light of its accepted or established meaning. *Grant v. Utah State Landboard*, 26 Utah 2d 100, 485 P. 2d 1035, 1036 (1971).

It is an axiomatic rule that every law should be construed in a light that will give effect to all of its provisions. *State v. Gates*, 118 Utah 182, 187, 221 P. 2d 878, 880 (1950). In a specific statute the words "duly" and "authorized" must be given meaning, and it should be

construed in a manner that will render the words operative rather than to make them idle and nugatory *Stevenson v. Salt Lake City Corp.*, 7 Utah 2d 28, 30, 317 P. 2d 597 (1957). This court has long held that in interpreting statutes, an attempt should be made to give every word effect. *Maw v. Lee*, 108 Utah 99, 107, 157 P. 2d 585, 588 (1945).

It is obvious that the legislature did not intend to include all laboratory technicians. *Rio Grande Motorway, Inc v. Public Service Commission*, 21 Utah 2d 377, 380, 445 P. 2d 990 (1968). This is the only interpretation that would be consistent in light of the specific individuals mentioned earlier in this sentence (physicians, registered nurses, practical nurses) and would be the only interpretation consistent with the doctrine of *eiusdem generis* which this court has prescribed in numerous cases. E.g. *Lark v. Whitehead*, 28 Utah 2d 343, 345, 504 P. 2d 557, 559 (1972), *Townsend v. Board of Review of Industrial Commission*, 27 Utah 2d 94, 96, 493 P. 2d 614, 616 (1972), *Heathman v. Giles*, 13 Utah 2d 368, 370, 374 P. 2d 839, 840 (1962), *Stone v. Salt Lake City*, 11 Utah 2d 196, 204, 356 P. 2d 631, 636 (1960).

Mr. Davis was called to the Salt Lake City and County jail at the request of Trooper Wayne Smith and testified that he was an employee of the Salt Lake City and County Health Department and that his position was a chemist (R. 5). He stated that he had a certificate as a medical technologist from the United States Navy during World War II and he had a bachelor of arts de-

gree with a composite major in Bacteriology and Chemistry and approximately twenty-five years experience in clinical laboratory work (R. 6). On cross-examination, he admitted that he had never received specific authorization to function as a duly authorized laboratory technician in drawing blood samples pursuant to Section 41-6-44.10(f) (R. 13). The trial court then determined that Mr. Davis was not a duly authorized laboratory technician as is required by the statute and that the question of Mr. Gibb's refusing to permit Mr. Davis to take a blood sample was moot in light of this fact. This is the prerogative of the trier of fact. *Thomson v. Condas*, 27 Utah 2d 129, 130, 493 P. 2d 639, 640 (1972).

Upon a reading of the statute, it is apparent that the legislature placed a requirement that any laboratory technician who wished to perform the act of withdrawing blood samples from a suspect, be duly authorized. There is good reason for this and a strong public policy in support of it. Appellant concedes (A. 12) that laboratory technicians are not licensed by the State of Utah. Therefore it is difficult to ascertain the minimum level of competency for a laboratory technician without some regulatory standard which sets a minimum level of competency such as is applied to physicians, nurses, and practical nurses. Consequently, the legislature within its power to provide for the general welfare and to secure its citizens against the consequences of ignorance and incompetency, placed a requirement in the statute that the laboratory technician be duly authorized to perform

the tests. The power to promulgate procedures to bring about this authorization is provided in Section 41-1-3, U. C. A. (1953). Section 41-6-44.10, U. C. A., as amended, is a law the commission is charged with enforcement of. Further Section 41-6-1 provides:

“The following words and phrases when used in this act shall, for the purpose of this act, have the meanings respectively ascribed to them”

The appellant has extensively briefed the subject of agency by implication and agency by estoppel. I feel this is irrelevant for two reasons: (1) All of the cases deal with an individual innocent third party who is applying the doctrine of agency to prevent an injustice after there had been a clear and apparent holding forth in previous dealings; (2) The doctrine of agency by implication is not an acceptable doctrine to be applied against the State of Utah in light of its sovereign immunity. See *Section 63-30-1 U. C. A., (1953), as amended, et seq. of the Governmental Immunity Act.* Further, it is pure speculation on the part of the appellant to contend that Trooper Smith could have, had we raised the objection early in the proceedings as to Mr. Davis' qualifications, administered a breathalyzer test to Mr. Gibb. Trooper Smith and Mr. Davis admitted that they left the Salt Lake City and County jail complex prior to the arrival of respondent's counsel. Further, the question of which test Trooper Smith could have administered was decided by him when he requested Mr. Gibb to submit to a blood test (R. 18). The decision was

Trooper Smith's decision by statute and not Mr. Gibb's but where he requested Mr. Gibb to submit to one test he cannot now be permitted to say that another test could have been given to avoid this problem.

The lower court committed no error in light of the facts and testimonies, and the lower court's decision should be affirmed and this appeal dismissed.

## POINT II.

### AS A MATTER OF LAW RESPONDENT WAS NOT AFFORDED HIS RIGHT TO COUNSEL.

Appellant has misconstrued the holding of the court. Nowhere in the findings of fact and conclusions of law did the court hold respondent had a right to have his counsel physically present in the county jail prior to the taking of the blood test. The court did hold, that based upon the facts, the respondent was not afforded the right to fully consult counsel and be properly advised of his rights. The appellant concedes that the respondent had the right to counsel. In fact, Trooper Smith informed him of this fact and permitted him to contact an attorney. The issue in the lower court was whether or not a telephone call under the facts and circumstances in this particular case sufficiently constituted respondent's right to counsel. It appears in the record, that respondent could not converse freely with his counsel due to the presence of Trooper Smith and Mr. Davis (R. 10, 33). Respon-

dent concedes that this matter is not a criminal matter and the right to counsel should not be treated as a technicality, the denial of which would totally vitiate the proceedings. However, respondent contends that based on the facts present in this case it would not have been unreasonable or burdensome to permit the respondent the right to privately speak to his attorney prior to making his decision to submit to a chemical test. Respondent submits this issue should be decided by weighing the strong public policy established by this court, that the accused should be afforded the right to counsel at the earliest possible moment; if the exercise of this right is not unreasonable, burdensome or delaying. *State v. Hamilton*, 18 Utah 2d 234, 238, 419 P. 2d 770, 774 (1966).

The trial court, based upon facts presented, determined that it would not have been unreasonable or burdensome for Trooper Smith to have afforded the respondent this right. It is our contention, that the period of time that Trooper Smith would have waited for respondent's counsel to reach the jail and converse with respondent privately, was only a matter of minutes. Therefore, Trooper Smith was totally unreasonable in filling out the refusal and leaving the jail after being specifically informed by respondent's counsel, twice, that he would be there shortly.

The record indicates that respondent's counsel arrived at the Salt Lake City and County jail at 5:25 A.M. Trooper Smith insisted that he was still at the jail at that time. Further, the record indicates that the respon-

dent's counsel requested to see the respondent and was not permitted to do so.

The accused has a right to counsel at the earliest time practical, since it is his means of knowing what his other rights are. *State v. Hamilton*, 18 Utah 2d 234, 238, 419 P. 2d 770, 774 (1966). Although the accused driver has given his consent to a chemical test, by being granted the privilege to drive, he has the right to be advised by counsel as to the implication of his compliance or refusal with said consent. *Hunter v. Dorius*, 23 Utah 2d 122, 123, 458 P. 2d 877, 879. Further, in light of the stiff penalty attached to a refusal, the respondent should be afforded, if it would not cause an unreasonable delay, every opportunity to consider and be informed by counsel.

The respondent was stopped at 4:01 A.M. and not delivered to the Salt Lake City and County jail until 4:55 A.M., some 55 minutes later. Trooper Smith stated that Mr. Davis was not at the jail at the time they arrived, and that Mr. Davis arrived later (R. 20). The record would show where Mr. Gibb was stopped is only five minutes from the jail. It would not have been an unreasonable or unjustified delay for the officer to have waited until 5:25 A.M. to submit the respondent to a chemical test, or even 5:30 A.M. He had initially waited 51 minutes to bring the respondent to the City and County jail and he gave no reason for this delay. The chemical test would still have been probative and the small additional delay would not have been unjustified. Trooper Smith gave the reason he had to leave and could

not wait, was due to the fact that there were only two cars on duty that night and that he had brought the other officer with him to the jail (R. 24). However, he stated that Mr. Gibb at no time during the period of custody was hostile or dangerous (R. 34), and that Officer Tenny could have taken his car and returned to patrol (R. 34).

Consequently, there is sufficient evidence in the record to warrant a finding that the respondent's conduct was not a refusal within the meaning of Section 41-6-44.10(c), U. C. A., (1953), as amended, but was an exercise of this right to counsel without causing unreasonable delay or burden. Therefore, because there is reasonable basis in the evidence to support the lower court's decision, the decision of that court should be affirmed.

### POINT III.

WHAT CONSTITUTES "REFUSAL TO CONSENT TO A CHEMICAL TEST" PURSUANT TO 41-6-44.10(c), UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, AS AMENDED, IS A FACT QUESTION TO BE DETERMINED BY THE TRIAL COURT.

The consideration of credibility of witnesses and the weight accorded to their respective testimony is a question of fact within the prerogative of the trial court.

Section 41-6-44.10(c), Utah Code Annotated (1953), as amended, provides . . . if at said hearing the department determines that the person

was granted the right to submit to a chemical test and without *reasonable* cause refused to submit . . . (emphasis added).

Respondent contends that he was not granted the right to submit to a chemical test as is provided in 41-6-44.10(f) and that he had a reasonable cause to request time to consult with counsel in light of the fact that it would only have required waiting five to ten minutes longer (R. 29). Reasonable cause can be termed synonymous with reasonable excuse. *Ballentine's Law Dictionary*, Third Edition, 1060, 1061.

During the trial de novo, in the lower court, the Judge heard testimony from Mr. Davis, Trooper Smith and Mr. Reagan, respondent's counsel.

Appellant contends Mr. Gibb's statement that he would not submit to a chemical test until his attorney arrived, constituted a refusal. The lower court, after hearing the facts and analyzing the circumstances, found that Mr. Gibb's actions as a question of fact did not constitute a refusal. This court has long held, "[It should be] assumed that [the fact finder] believed those aspects of evidence, and drew such inference as fairly could be drawn therefrom, favorable to his findings and judgment." *People Finance and Thrift Co. v. Landis*, 28 Utah 2d 392, 395, 503 P. 2d 444, 445 (1972).

Further the trial court's findings and conclusions are presumed valid and it is the appellant's obligation to show error. *Latimer v. Katz*, 29 Utah 2d 280, 283, 508 P. 2d 542, 545 (1973).

CONCLUSION

Respondent respectfully requests that for the reasons above stated that the lower court's decision should be affirmed.